JOBS FOR THE FUTURE

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

STUDENT-CENTERED LEARNING PRACTICES: INVESTIGATING THE OUTCOMES FOR UNDERSERVED STUDENT POPULATIONS

LETTER OF INTENT DUE MAY 8, 2018, BY 11:59 P.M. (ET)

PROPOSALS DUE JUNE 4, 2018, BY 5:00 P.M. (ET)

DECISIONS ANNOUNCED JULY 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	
II. BACKGROUND	3
The Student-Centered Learning Research Collaborative	3
The Principles of Student-Centered Learning	4
III. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL OVERVIEW	8
Primary Goals	8
Basic Parameters	8
Areas of Focus	10
Key Research Questions	10
IV. PROPOSAL GUIDELINES	11
1. Research Framework	11
2. Research Design	11
3. Projected Outcomes and Utility	13
4. Capacity	13
5. Equity	14
6. Work Plan and Budget	15
V. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS	17
VI. CRITERIA FOR EVALUATION	19
VII. PROCEDURE	
Bidders Conference	
Letter of Intent	
Submission Instructions	
Required Documents	
REFERENCES	2/

I. INTRODUCTION

The goal of this grant opportunity is to investigate the extent to which student-centered learning practices can be used to advance equity in public education. Research proposals should be directed at building the knowledge base related to the impact of specific student-centered learning approaches on marginalized populations of students, the supports that may be needed to ensure realization of positive outcomes for those populations, and the contextual conditions needed to sustain equity-enhancing forms of implementation. The subgroups of particular concern include students who identify as Latinx, African American, and/or Native American; students from low-income families; those who qualify for special education services; emerging bilingual students; and recent immigrants and refugees (other definitions of "underserved" may be applied in proposed studies). Our intention is for this research to influence educational practice, policy, and public awareness. Grantees will be expected to join the Student-Centered Learning Research Collaborative and contribute to its ongoing efforts to build the evidence base, inform policy and practice, and scale effective approaches.

Researchers from grant-eligible research institutions, universities, and colleges are encouraged to apply. Thanks to the generosity of the Nellie Mae Education Foundation and other Research Collaborative supporters, we expect to make up to three grants of approximately \$400,000 each to be conducted over two years. Detailed requirements and criteria are described in Sections IV, V, and VI below. The deadline for receipt of proposals is 5:00 p.m. (ET) on June 4, 2018. We anticipate announcing the recipients by the end of July.

II. BACKGROUND

JFF is a national nonprofit that drives transformation in the American workforce and education systems. For 35 years, JFF has led the way in designing innovative and scalable solutions that create access to economic advancement for all.

The Nellie Mae Education Foundation (NMEF) is the largest philanthropic organization in New England that focuses exclusively on education. The foundation supports the promotion and integration of student-centered approaches to learning at the middle and high school levels across New England where learning is personalized; learning is competency-based; learning takes place anytime, anywhere; and students take ownership of their learning. To elevate student-centered approaches, the foundation leverages a four-part strategy focused on building educator ownership, leadership, and capacity; advancing quality and rigor of student-centered learning practices; developing effective systems designs; and building public understanding and demand.

THE STUDENT-CENTERED LEARNING RESEARCH COLLABORATIVE

In partnership with NMEF, the Students at the Center initiative at JFF has, for almost eight years, led the way in building the evidence base for student-centered learning. Among its many accomplishments, the initiative has: established a powerful organizing framework for a field previously dispersed across a wide array of disciplines; collected, developed, and tested a variety of research-grounded, high-quality tools and resources necessary to implement student-centered approaches to learning; curated and disseminated research in a series of compelling white papers; cultivated and supported a broad range of stakeholders in a variety of settings; designed and maintained the Students at the Center Hub (www.studentsatthecenterhub.org), which engages multiple audiences in using and adding to what we know about student-centered learning; produced two well-regarded books with Harvard Education Press (Anywhere and Rethinking Readiness); and helped to bridge the research, organizational, legislative, philanthropic, and practice worlds by identifying the student-centered approaches (the "how") and deeper learning outcomes (the "what") with the greatest potential to enhance students' college, career, and civic readiness.

With these efforts and more, Students at the Center has not only captured the current knowledge and future possibilities of student-centered learning, but also increased its visibility and uptake in education. The work, however, is far from complete. The field has now matured to the point where knowledge development and scaled implementation are the key levers required to capture and catalyze changes in systems, policies, and practices. With the support

of NMEF, JFF and the Students at the Center team are extending their commitment to deepen the evidence for, enhance the understanding of, and expand access to student-centered learning approaches in the years to come.

In 2016, Students at the Center, with thought leadership and anchor funding from the NMEF, launched the Student-Centered Learning Research Collaborative. The Research Collaborative clarifies, focuses, and consolidates the rapidly evolving domains of research, practice, and policy related to student-centered learning. The Research Collaborative accomplishes this via three overarching goals:

- CATALYZE: Support groundbreaking research that builds the evidence base for student-centered learning, advances equity, and moves the field forward.
- 2. **COMMUNICATE**: Curate and disseminate for cross-sector audiences the best scholarship, practices, and policies that will help bring student-centered approaches to scale.
- 3. **CONNECT:** Bring together leaders from research, practice, policy, and funding to reduce redundancy, promote smart field growth, and accelerate innovation.

The Research Collaborative contributes to and expands the evidence-based resources already available at the <u>Students at the Center Hub</u> and <u>www.jff.org/studentsatthecenter</u> both by supporting new studies initiated by the Collaborative and by highlighting student-centered, learning-related research conducted elsewhere (see the <u>full concept paper describing the</u> Research Collaborative).

THE PRINCIPLES OF STUDENT-CENTERED LEARNING

Multiple strands of research now identify an increasingly coherent set of knowledge, skills, and dispositions students need to succeed in the 21st century. Alongside NMEF since 2010, and joined in 2013 by the Hewlett Foundation, Students at the Center has been working with academics and researchers to compile, synthesize, and analyze hundreds of research articles to develop a grounded definition of student-centered learning and its relationship to deeper

learning.ⁱ The four key principles of student-centered learning—drawn from the mind/brain sciences, learning theory, and research on youth development, among other fields—are overlapping and complementary.ⁱⁱ They are:

- **Learning is personalized.** Opportunities to learn are customized and differentiated to match each individual student's needs, interests, background, and skills.
- **Learning is competency based.** Students move ahead based primarily on their demonstration of key learning milestones along the path to mastery.
- Learning takes place anytime, anywhere. Equitable opportunities to learn extend beyond the school day and the school building, and take advantage of community and technological resources.
- Students have agency and ownership of their learning. Students understand how to improve by applying effort strategically. They are given frequent opportunities to direct and reflect on their learning.

In combination, and when guided by a coherent and rigorous set of educational goals, these principles provide a strong foundation for the pursuit of deeper learning—the knowledge, skills, and dispositions necessary to prepare every student for college, career, and civic life. A small but growing group of studies following the release of the Students at the Center framework further substantiates this vision.ⁱⁱⁱ

Student-centered learning moves the emphasis from the teaching side of the equation to the perspective and experience of the learner. This shift, while not novel, is being explored in a

¹ Collected research syntheses and linked resources and tools can be found at: http://www.jff.org/initiatives/students-center.

ⁱⁱ An interactive version of the student-centered learning framework can be found at: http://studentsatthecenterhub.org/interactive-framework/.

ⁱⁱⁱ Zeiser, Taylor, Rickles, Garet, & Segeritz 2014; Pellegrino & Hilton 2012; Rory & Chris 2016; Barron & Hulleman 2014; Yeager et al. 2016; Hulleman et al. 2017; Kizilcec & Cohen 2017; Bettinger et al. 2018; Saunders et al. 2017; Quay 2017; Nagaoka et al. 2015; Farrington 2013; Ferguson et al. 2015; Romero 2015a; Romero 2015b; see also the studies cited at: "Resources," Nellie Mae Education Foundation, n.d., www.nmefoundation.org/resources/student-centered-learning/centered-on-results; Wolfe, Steinberg, & Hoffman 2013; Heller, Wolfe, & Steinberg 2017.

context of renewed urgency, as the United States confronts longstanding and consistently glaring inequities in educational outcomes that collectively comprise what Ladson-Billings calls our "educational debt." These educational inequities reflect and reinforce forms of social injustice known to produce disproportional outcomes based on race, ethnicity, income, linguistic heritage, disability, and immigration status. At the same time, several bodies of research—including brain science, research on motivation, and other learning sciences—point to the potential for more personalized, responsive, rigorous, and meaningful educational approaches that will engage and inspire those learners who may have found traditional approaches alienating.^{iv}

As our nation turns away from standardized, one-size-fits-all approaches to education, public sentiment is turning toward more personalized and student-centered forms of instruction. More than ever before, classroom-based educators, afterschool learning professionals, district and state-level policymakers, and university- or nonprofit-based researchers are eager to understand and apply the scholarship that informs student-centered learning and the techniques that comprise it. This scholarship includes a deep and growing understanding of how students learn and which forms of instruction are most likely to promote positive academic and social outcomes for each student.

To foreground equity in these inquiries and implementations, it will be crucial to capture precisely which student populations are being most and least served by certain approaches, and to recognize and account for societal, institutional, interpersonal, and epistemological factors that drive those outcomes. Though student-centered learning approaches appear to have tremendous potential to accelerate achievement and enhance equity, important unanswered questions remain. Furthermore, concerns about cultural responsiveness, educator facility, and systemic fidelity continuously arise whenever educators attempt to bring student-centered learning to scale. So while it is clear that elements of student-centered

W Hinton, Fischer, & Glennon 2013; Immordino-Yang & Damasio 2007; Lupien, McEwen, Gunnar, & Heim 2009; Deci, Vallerand, Pelletier, & Ryan 1991; Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews, & Kelly 2007; Toshalis & Nakkula 2013; Yonezawa, Jones, & Joselowsky 2009; Farrington et al. 2012; Harter 1992; National Research Council 2012; Sawyer 2008; Steinberg 2010; Tobias & Everson 2009; Benner, Crosnoe, & Eccles 2014; Belmi et al. 2015; Browman et al. 2017; Brady, Germano, & Fryberg 2017; Dittmann & Stephens 2017; Warren et al. 2018; Gutiérrez & Penuel 2014; Gutiérrez 2013; V See, for example, the implications and further research recommended in titles such as these: K. L. Alexander, Entwisle, & Olson 2007; P. Alexander & Murphy 2000; Bransford, Brown, & Cocking 2002; Darling-Hammond 2010a; Downey, Von Hippel, & Broh 2004; Durlak & Weissberg 2007; Hake 1998; Halpern 2009; Hattie 2009; Haystead 2010; Johnston 2011; Lambert & McCombs 2000; McClure, Yonezawa, & Jones 2010; Michael 2006; Miller 2007; National Academy of Education 2009; National Research Council 2012; Niemiec & Ryan 2009; Peterson, Woessmann, Hanushek, & Lastra-Anadón 2011; Resnick & Zurawsky 2005; Shear, Novais, & Moorthy 2010; Stern & Stearns 2008; Sturgis & Patrick 2010; Wolfe, Steinberg, & Hoffman 2013.

learning weave throughout many important issues in education and offer resources for achieving more equitable outcomes, we need to continue to explore, define, and refine what we know about best practices if we are to repay the education debt owed to our most marginalized students—the ultimate stakeholders in this line of inquiry.

III. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL OVERVIEW

This RFP represents part of JFF's ongoing commitment to supply needed clarity regarding the influencing factors and eventual outcomes of student-centered approaches in secondary school settings, particularly where/when those approaches may enhance outcomes for students historically underserved by our public educational system.

PRIMARY GOALS

The primary goal of this grant opportunity is to reveal contexts, components, techniques, and impacts of specific student-centered learning approaches on marginalized student populations. We are seeking to understand the effectiveness of student-centered learning practices, the conditions that support (and undermine) these practices, who most (and least) benefits and why, and the extent to which specific approaches positively (and negatively) impact the achievement and college/career/civic readiness of students from historically underserved groups and communities. Our intention is for practitioners to use this research to influence their choices in schools so that equity is prioritized and outcomes for marginalized populations are maximized; for policymakers to factor research findings into how they allocate resources and design procedures so that achievement is enhanced for underserved groups; for researchers to build upon new knowledge and design subsequent studies that advance our understanding of student-centered practices as drivers of equity; and for the greater public to better recognize the potential for student-centered learning to elevate all students' achievement, particularly those who are most marginalized by traditional approaches. As such, any Research Collaborative undertaking will need to consider the extent to which the inquiries, findings, and implications are made accessible and useful to stakeholders and those charged with scaling implementation.

BASIC PARAMETERS

This RFP is soliciting grant proposals that detail an investigation of student-centered approaches as described below. The RFP contains the following basic parameters:

- The project must be an original study. We expect to make up to three grants of up to \$400,000 over two years (\$200,000/year for two years).
- The lead organization in the proposal must be a research institution, college, or university with proven capacity to conduct high-quality research related to studentcentered learning.

- This grant supports 501(c)(3) organizations that include higher education institutions and other nonprofit organizations that fall under the tax designation 509(a)(1) or 509(a)(2) and have an education focus, as evidenced in their articles of incorporation. Only 501(c)(3) organizations with the further designation of 509(a)(1) or (2) are eligible to receive a Research Collaborative grant.
- Because the Research Collaborative focuses on student-centered learning approaches as they are manifested in real-life learning environments, we emphasize working with and serving practitioners and policymakers who are attempting to scale best practices. We therefore encourage applicants to build into their research design the kinds of active collaborations with practitioners and/or policymakers that not only inform data gathering and interpretation during the investigation but also accelerate implementation once the study is complete (see the Capacity item in Section VI for more information). Research teams that demonstrate pre-existing and productive collaborations with practitioners and systems-level leaders and/or provide evidence of active participation in networks will be well-positioned to receive funding. In addition, stronger applications will supply plans for how research findings will be shared, used, and eventually scaled. Note that research teams may collaborate with individual public schools, school districts, charter management organizations, community-based organizations, state education agencies, technical assistance providers, education intermediaries, and other research organizations. Such partners are not required to be eligible to receive a grant or to meet the criteria listed above for lead organizations. Letters of support will be required from all partners.
- In addition to the connections and collaborations encouraged above, participation in the Research Collaborative carries the expectation of active participation in a burgeoning learning community. Grantees will be expected to commit to at least two consistent leading team members to prepare for and attend biannual Research Collaborative gatherings. The first meeting of the Collaborative is scheduled for October 10-12, 2018, in Providence, Rhode Island. Grantees will also be expected to inform Research Collaborative staff and funders about the progress of the study through quarterly calls, interim and final reports, and informal updates. Lastly, JFF staff will work with grantees to agree upon a set of field-friendly deliverables associated with the study that communicate to cross-sector audiences the import of the investigation, what is learned, and what implications it has for various stakeholders. JFF staff will assist grantees with production and dissemination of these deliverables.
- All studies should be concluded and reports submitted by August 31, 2020.

AREAS OF FOCUS

Proposed projects should investigate student-centered learning approaches that fall into at least one of the following four areas:

- How learning can be personalized: the techniques employed to customize and differentiate instructional activities and curricula to match each individual student's needs, interests, background, and skills.
- How learning can be competency-based: the methods educators use to encourage
 and affect student achievement that can be assessed by valid and authentic measures
 of mastery, proficiency, and growth over time, decoupled from a preset pacing calendar.
- How learning can occur anytime, anywhere: the ways educators construct equitable opportunities to learn that extend beyond the school day and the school building, and take advantage of community and technological resources.
- How students can be supported to take "ownership" of their learning: the set of
 practices that allow or promote students to be agents of their learning and/or that
 enhance students' sense of belonging, motivation, academic efficacy, self-regulation,
 self-determination, or other related outcomes.

KEY RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Regardless of which of the four areas are prioritized and combined, the proposed research study should address the following three questions:

- 1. What are the **measurable effects** of this approach on academic achievement, preparation for postsecondary education, and/or career and civic readiness of one or more marginalized populations?
- 2. What contextual, institutional, cultural, interpersonal, epistemological, and/or procedural factors contribute to these outcomes?
- 3. What are the **implications** of this study for the field writ large, and for marginalized students in particular?

IV. PROPOSAL GUIDELINES

Please respond to each of the following questions in a narrative of 15 pages or less, using single-spaced 11-point (or larger) type with standard formatting. Submissions that adhere to the section-by-section structure below are preferred, but seamless narratives will also be accepted.

1. RESEARCH FRAMEWORK

- a. Which **specific area(s) of student-centered learning** and/or which specific approach(es) will you be investigating? Why is this important?
- b. Where appropriate, how will this study **respond to each of the three key research questions**? What other questions will it address, if any?
- c. Which specific marginalized student populations will your study focus on? Why?
- d. What **existing scholarship** most informs and supports your project? How does your study leverage rather than duplicate similar inquiries? Summarize the literature *briefly* and cite minimally, using exemplar references only. Be sure to note how your project will build on existing knowledge to advance the field.
- e. Does your study consider **contextual factors** that can influence the eventual success or failure of student-centered approaches? For example, to what extent does your research design bring cognitive findings into conversation with sociocultural, sociopolitical, social-emotional, and critical discoveries, and/or how might it integrate learning science, instructional design, organizational sociology, developmental psychology, economics, systems theory, culturally responsive pedagogy, and other relevant fields? How might your study explore issues related to policy development, institutional change, teacher beliefs, and content instruction?

2. RESEARCH DESIGN

- a. Summarize the **overall research design**. Suggested components include conceptual model, methods to be used, sampling approach, data collection instruments (e.g., number and timing of assessments, method of observation, mode of collection, etc.), and data analysis methods. We encourage you to highlight the extent to which students, families, practitioners, and other stakeholders will be involved in the administration of the study and analyses of the data.
- Describe the anticipated sample, including both district/school and student-level information, as applicable, either in the narrative or as tables included as appendices. Potential school/district data: size, ages/grades served, demographics of the student

population, achievement outcomes (grades, test scores, course credits earned, etc.), attainment outcomes (dropout rates, graduation rates, and/or postsecondary enrollment), location (urban/rural/suburban/exurban), grade levels included, curriculum used (if applicable), and notable aspects of the school's history, community, or culture. Potential student data: ages/grades, demographics including race/ethnicity, English learner (EL) status, immigrant status, free or reduced lunch status, qualification for special education services, academic achievement, and credit/diploma attainment data. What specific subgroups of students will be the focus of your study, why are you choosing this group, and how will they be disaggregated? How will unplanned-for missing data be handled? If you are utilizing an existing data set, describe it and identify the variables related to student-centered learning that you intend to examine. And if you plan to recruit participants, please describe recruitment methods, incentives to be provided (if any), plans for obtaining informed assent/consent, and an IRB approval timeline.

- c. What is the **unit of analysis**? How do your research question(s), sample, and research design inform your decision to choose this particular unit of analysis?
- d. What **measures** will you use (or, if necessary, develop) to examine the specific student-centered learning approach(es) at the core of your study and the extent to which they enhance outcomes for marginalized student populations? If applicable, what are the established instruments you plan to integrate and what are their psychometric properties? If you are proposing to develop a new instrument, supply a plan for the development of validity measures. Also, please describe the extent to which the instruments to be used are culturally responsive (i.e., characterize how you expect they will highlight and/or account for participants' cultural differences). Lastly, will the intensity, fidelity, quality, or other characteristics of the student-centered learning approach(es) be measured? If so, how? If not, why is this not important?
- e. In what ways will you analyze your data to illuminate the extent to which underserved students experience (or do not experience) the benefits of the approach(es) being studied? Describe what instruments, observational techniques, or measures will be used to **highlight issues of equity** and your rationale for choosing them.
- f. If your study possesses a comparative component, what **effect sizes** do you expect and will your sample provide adequate power to detect the effects? If your study uses mixed methods or is solely qualitative, how will you assess the extent of impact, and will your sample provide sufficient breadth or saturation to make such claims?

vi Though exceptions may be made based on the relative merits of the proposal, please note that preference will be given to proposals that use established instruments that have previously demonstrated high levels of validity and reliability.

g. Research suggests that external conditions—from state policy to school culture—can powerfully influence the outcomes of particular educational approaches. How will we know that the outcomes are the result of the student-centered learning practices identified in your study and not the product of other contextual factors? In other words, how do you intend to establish validity and reliability? Will you use experimental or quasi-experimental methods? If so, describe your approach, including selection and measurement related to the control or comparison groups. If not, describe how results will be attributed to the intervention or approach. How will you address threats to validity, including selection bias?

3. PROJECTED OUTCOMES AND UTILITY

- a. What **new knowledge** do you expect to generate as a result of this study? How might that knowledge enhance our understanding of: (1) Student-centered approaches and their efficacy for marginalized students? (2) Contextual, institutional, cultural, interpersonal, epistemological, and/or procedural factors that may support or hinder positive outcomes? (3) Unintended consequences?
- b. What **implications** might the findings have for educational practices, policy, or public awareness? How might this project affect the way researchers, practitioners, policymakers, and/or the general public understand and use student-centered approaches? In particular, how will this study inform or bolster efforts to enhance equity in our schools?
- c. Address whether you expect your study to yield information about the **necessary** conditions for successful implementation of specific student-centered approaches on a broader scale. What might your findings suggest about what researchers, policymakers, and practitioners may need to do to bring student-centered approaches to scale? How do you define scale in this circumstance?
- d. Briefly, what **ideas for dissemination** of the findings do you have? Build into your budget and timeline adequate resources to work with editors and communications professionals to translate research findings for stakeholder audiences. Note that you will be expected to collaborate with other Research Collaborative members as you research the best outlets for and refine representations of your work. Also note that JFF staff will be available to assist you as you prepare such materials and with the wider release.

4. CAPACITY

a. Briefly describe the **capacity of the lead organization and each of the partnering organizations/institutions** to carry out this research and any outreach, including a track record of similar efforts and partnerships. (Include in appendices letters of support from all partner and subcontracting organizations and, where appropriate, the places

- where practitioners and/or policymakers will be involved in the administration of the study and analyses of the data.)
- b. In detailing your capacity to undertake an investigation focused on equity and to make meaning of diverse participants' experiences of student-centered learning, please characterize the extent to which your team possesses the necessary critical sophistication with various forms of marginalization and inequity in education, and the techniques used to overcome them. Among other attributes, relevant publications, evidence of leadership, and life experiences are all important here. In addition, please answer the following questions about researcher positionality in your proposal (adapted from Milner 2007):
 - i. In what ways do your team members' backgrounds influence your research approach and design? For instance, how do your racial/ethnic/cultural/ linguistic/disability backgrounds influence the research questions you pose, the data collection tools you employ, and the way you interpret research findings?
 - ii. In what ways do you expect to encounter race, racism, ableism, discrimination, marginalization, and other forms of systemic oppression in your study, and what specific staffing and research design features prepare you to capture and interpret such phenomena with rigor and responsiveness?
- c. Briefly describe key staff (from the lead organization or any subcontractors), and their roles in and percentages of time allocated to the project. For research staff, list other past and current research projects that are directly relevant to this proposal. If there are staff members who will be hired, describe the qualifications for these positions. For each key staff person, append a current CV or resume of no more than three pages.
- d. Describe the **management plan** for this project including partnership cultivation, data agreement finalization, processes for writing and amending MOUs, informed consent/assent retrieval, communications strategies, tasking and monitoring partners, data gathering and analysis, and accountability.
- e. Describe your **access** to an appropriate sample of students, educators, school(s), and/or district(s) if not previously covered. If schools, a district or districts, or school networks are participating as partners, how will this shape your sample selection and methods? If the grantee will be recruiting schools, other organizations, or individuals, how will recruitment be conducted and on what timeline? What guarantees of participation do you currently have? And how will you guarantee a sufficient population of marginalized students to allow a broad and deep examination of equity issues?
- f. Describe two or three **key challenges** you anticipate in carrying out this project, and how you plan to overcome them.

5. EQUITY

- a. Explain how your **research framework** integrates issues of racial, ethnic, linguistic, socioeconomic, disability, and immigration status, and/or cultural inequity. In particular, describe how your study addresses gaps in resources and access, or how it attends to structural or systemic problems known to drive disproportionate outcomes.
- b. In your **research design**, how will underserved learners and their assets/needs be highlighted? In addition, how will the effects of student-centered approaches on those populations be examined?
- c. In the populations and subpopulations you **sample**, how will you ensure that a significant proportion of the students experiencing the intervention consists of underserved learners? And where specific subgroups are identified (e.g., emerging bilingual students, students who qualify for free and reduced-price lunch, etc.), how will you guarantee that the sample size is sufficient for analysis?
- d. To what extent will the potential **implications** of the study inform efforts to enhance equity in schools? How will your study illuminate what practitioners, policymakers, and researchers need to do to improve outcomes for underserved students?
- e. How will **students**, **families**, **practitioners**, **and/or other stakeholders** be integrated into the decision-making process regarding the design of the study, the administration of data collecting mechanisms, and/or the analyses of the data? What strategies will you use to determine the extent to which your study aligns with or departs from the needs and interests of those closest to the problem or to the practice?

6. WORK PLAN AND BUDGET

- a. Include in an appendix to the proposal a work plan with key tasks and timelines across the two years of funding. If IRB approval is required, include your plan and timing for attaining approval.
- b. Supply a list of potential **field-friendly deliverables** derived from interim findings you would expect at the end of year 1 (or earlier), and from final findings and implications you would expect at the conclusion of the study. Please also characterize which audiences would most benefit from learning about those results, and any public-facing products (infographics, webinars, blogs, animations, op-eds, policy briefs, professional development modules, etc.) that you plan to generate to inform stakeholders. These deliverables should be evident in the work plan above. Note that grantees will work with JFF staff during contracting to refine this initial list of materials into specific deliverables with an associated production timeline.
- c. Include a **budget** (<u>template for download</u>) with a budget narrative for the full funding request. If applicable, please make sure that practitioners' time commitments are amply accounted for in your budgeting. We recognize that the resources available through this

RFP will not cover the full costs of some important research and evaluation projects. Therefore, if funds from other sources beyond those requested are needed, identify specific sources and current status in your budget narrative (e.g., already obtained, awaiting decision, not yet submitted for funding, etc.). The budget should include preparation for and attendance at each of the two Student-Centered Learning Research Collaborative two-and-a-half-day meetings per year (each with likely three overnights). Lodging and transportation for two members of the research team should be included in the proposal budget. The first meeting of the Research Collaborative will be October 10-12, 2018, in Providence, Rhode Island. Budget should also include production of all field-friendly deliverables, quarterly calls with JFF staff, interim and final reporting, and funder updating as detailed above.

V. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS

Please read this section carefully before submitting a proposal as it contains important information. Questions from prospective grantees will be answered at our Bidders Conference on April 26, 2018, and on our RFP FAQ, posted on the Research Collaborative site and updated regularly over the course of the submission period.

- 1. The project must be an original research project.
- 2. The project may request up to \$400,000 over two years (\$200,000/year for two years to be distributed according to project milestones).
- 3. All applicants must be eligible for grants. This grant supports 501(c)(3) organizations that include higher education institutions and other nonprofit organizations that fall under the tax designation 509(a)(1) or 509(a)(2) and have an education focus, as evidenced in their articles of incorporation. Only 501(c)(3) organizations with the further designation of 509(a)(1) or (2) are eligible to receive a Research Collaborative grant.
- 4. Research organizations that meet the grant eligibility criteria described above are permitted to apply for this funding. The lead organization in the proposal must be a research institution, college, or university with proven capacity to conduct high-quality research related to student-centered learning. Collaborations among research organizations and K-12 educational entities or other organizations are encouraged, as long as the lead organization has primary responsibility for the research activities that will be undertaken as part of this project.
- 5. One key early deliverable will be a clear, field-friendly, conceptual model for the specific student-centered learning practices that are the focus of the proposed research project. This model should include a graphical component, a thorough description of the approach to be investigated, and a discussion of what parameters of high-quality implementation are considered to be important for positive and equitable results for marginalized populations of students. The project may adopt/adapt an existing model or models as long as rationale is provided for this choice.
- 6. Proposals of no more than 15 single-spaced pages with at least 6 points of space between paragraphs, one-inch margins, and 11-point type will be considered. Appendices are not counted toward this maximum. Please do not append peripheral materials such as reports from previous projects or publications previously authored by members of the research team.
- 7. Indirect costs are capped at 15 percent.
- 8. This funding opportunity currently focuses on secondary education. We therefore expect that all sampled schools and students in funded projects will be at the middle or high school level. Regardless of whether the study's subjects are in middle or high school, given the

importance of secondary education in the school-to-career transition, the proposed research design should promise to illuminate both the extent to which the studied student-centered learning practices support students' college/career/civic readiness, and the extent to which those practices yield equitable outcomes.

- 9. IRB approval is not required at the time of submission. However, all grants requiring such approval will need to obtain IRB approval and submit proof to JFF prior to the collection of any data.
- 10. In keeping with the field-building and communication goals of the project, grantees will be expected to permit requests to open their data for review, validation, and/or replication by outside researchers or other Research Collaborative members. Submission of a proposal is understood to be an acknowledgement of this provision.

VI. CRITERIA FOR EVALUATION

In addition to meeting the qualifications described above, the following are the criteria evaluators will use to determine which proposal will be funded. Below, we have supplied weighting to indicate how the proposals will be scored by evaluators. Note that JFF reserves the right to revise these criteria prior to the review process.

Item	Weighting (of 100)	Description
1. Research Framework	20	 Demonstrates understanding of and relevance to the Students at the Center definition of student-centered learning and clearly addresses one or more of the student-centered learning principles Substantively engages each of the three key research questions Scans, characterizes, and builds on existing scholarship such that the new information generated by the study will effectively leverage rather than duplicate similar inquiries Exhibits an awareness of the contextual factors, including various forms of marginalization, that influence the success or failure of student-centered approaches and attempts to synthesize insights and paradigms from multiple fields to make sense of those factors
2. Research Design	20	 Methodology for project reflects state-of-the-art research design, including methods, measures, and analyses Sample is appropriate, subgroups are of sufficient size to yield significant results, and plans are offered for
		 Unit of analysis is identified and explanations are provided to make clear its appropriateness Measures and instruments to be used are explained, psychometric properties are supplied, and, if new measurements are being developed, detailed plans for validation are provided If applicable, effect sizes are specified as are the techniques to be used to establish adequate power to detect them Research design includes and accounts for contextual influences by employing techniques appropriate to

		illuminate and ameliorate biases in the research process, and provides specific and rigorous methods to establish acceptable levels of validity and reliability
3. Focus on Equity	20	Research framework substantively incorporates issues of racial, ethnic, linguistic, socioeconomic, disability, immigrant, and/or cultural inequity in the purpose of the study
		Throughout the research design , underserved learners are highlighted and the effects of student-centered approaches on those populations are examined, as are contextual factors that influence (in)equitable outcomes
		A significant proportion of the sample consists of underserved learners, and if a specific subgroup is identified (e.g., EL students), the sample size is sufficient for analysis
		 Mechanisms for substantively integrating students, families, practitioners, and/or other stakeholders in the administration of the study and analyses of the data are clear
		Implications promise to either inform or bolster efforts to enhance equity in schools
4. Projected Outcomes and Utility	15	Generates new knowledge that promises to enhance our understanding of student-centered approaches and their efficacy for marginalized student populations, and/or illuminates those factors that may impede positive outcomes
		 Suggests possible implications for practice, policy, and/or public awareness
		Yields important information about the necessary conditions for the successful implementation of student-centered approaches and, if possible, suggests how those approaches might be brought to scale
		Supplies tangible and achievable ideas for dissemination of the study's interim and final findings into field-friendly deliverables that are capable of influencing public perceptions of student-centered practices
5. Capacity	15	The capacity of the lead organization is evident in its record of similar research in education, and each of the partnering organizations/institutions indicates its full support for the proposed study; tangible

		,
		evidence of robust collaboration is provided and evidence of viable pathways to scale are supplied
		Key staff and investigators are experienced, well positioned, well prepared, and adequately supported to conduct the study
		 The research team possesses the requisite expertise in, experiences of, and/or sophistication with identifying and understanding issues of inequity and marginalization, and provides evidence of members' ability and willingness to appropriately name and account for researcher positionality
		The management plan demonstrates strong partnership cultivation, communications strategies, processes for writing and amending memoranda of understanding (MOUs), tasking and monitoring partners, engaging stakeholders, and ensuring accountability
		 Sufficient access to data and research participants is assured, and/or recruitment methods are sound and timely
		Key challenges are acknowledged and plans for overcoming them are advanced in a way that demonstrates the strength of the partnerships
6. Work Plan and Budget	10	Work plan is realistic and organized, and includes all major components associated with participant recruitment, data gathering, and data analysis, plus biannual meetings of the Research Collaborative, quarterly calls with JFF staff, project updates for funders, and the production of field-friendly deliverables
		The list of potential deliverables , including interim findings, are useful, compelling, and promise to inform key stakeholders about the efficacy of student-centered approaches
		Budget is within the required range, detailed, and reasonable in scope and allocations

VII. PROCEDURE

Interested parties should follow the following process to submit a proposal:

- BIDDERS CONFERENCE: Attend the online Research Collaborative Bidders Conference on April 26, 2018, 2:30-3:30 p.m. (ET). <u>Register now or access the recording</u>.
- 2. **LETTER OF INTENT**: Complete the brief <u>letter of intent form</u> by 11:59 p.m. (ET) on May 8, 2018.
- 3. **SUBMISSION**: Submit the narrative and accompanying documents outlined below and in the RFP through **the online portal** by 5:00 p.m. (ET) on June 4, 2018.

BIDDERS CONFERENCE

On April 26, 2018, 2:30-3:30 p.m. ET, the Research Collaborative will hold an online bidders conference designed to give interested and eligible applicants a chance to ask questions regarding the RFP. The webinar is free and open to the public, and will be recorded and posted on the https://example.com/research-collaborative-website as soon as possible afterwards. Register now or access the recording.

LETTER OF INTENT

To ensure that we have sufficient reviewers on hand to evaluate submitted proposals, we are requiring all applicants to **submit a simplified letter of intent** using the online form on the Research Collaborative RFP site by 11:59 p.m. (ET) on May 8, 2018. On that form, you will be asked to submit the following:

- Name of lead organization
- Names of principal investigators (Pls) and co-Pls, plus institutional affiliations
- Tentative topic of study (the phrasing/focus of which can change between the letter of intent and the final submission date)
- Expected sample/partners/sites/measures (e.g., populations and subpopulations of interest, region(s) from which samples are drawn, sites where data will be gathered, key indicators or measures to be used, etc.)

SUBMISSION INSTRUCTIONS

The narrative and all attachments must be submitted <u>via the online portal</u> on the Research Collaborative site by 5:00 p.m. (ET) on June 4, 2018.

Before awarding grants, we will reach out to finalists via the individual named as the main contact in your proposal submission to schedule a short call between June 25 and July 6 (except July 4) to discuss your proposal. Please ensure that at least one representative of the research team leadership will be available by phone and email during this span.

Documents to be submitted are as follows:

Narra	tive				
Budget (please use the template available here) and budget narrative					
IRS Tax Status letter					
JFF Conflict of Interest Form (download <u>here</u>)					
Suppo	orting documents Work plan Resumes for lead staff and a summary of qualifications (limit of 3 pages per individual) Letters of support from all identified partners				
O	Letters of support from all identified partifiers				

Questions regarding the RFP should be sent to rcsubmit@jff.org.

REFERENCES

- Alexander, K. L., D. R. Entwisle, & L. S. Olson. 2007. "Lasting Consequences of the Summer Learning Gap." *American Sociological Review* 72, no. 2 (April): 167-180.
- Alexander, P., and P. Murphy. 2000. "The Research Base for APA's Learner-Centered Psychological Principles." In *How Students Learn*, edited by N. Lambert and B. McCombs, 25-60. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Barron, K., and C. Hulleman. 2014. "Expectancy-Value-Cost Model of Motivation." In International Encyclopedia of Social & Behavioral Sciences, edited by J. D. Wright, 503-509. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.26099-6
- Belmi, P., Cortes Barragan, R., Neale, M. A., & Cohen, G. L. (2015). Threats to Social Identity Can Trigger Social Deviance. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, *41*(4), 467-484. doi: 10.1177/0146167215569493.
- Benner, A. D., R. Crosnoe, and J. S. Eccles. 2014. "Schools, Peers, and Prejudice in Adolescence." *Journal of Research on Adolescence* 25, no. 1: 173-188. doi:10.1111/jora.12106.
- Bettinger, E., S. Ludvigsen, M. Rege, I. F. Solli, and D. Yeager. 2018. Increasing Perseverance in Math: Evidence from a Field Experiment in Norway. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 146: 1-15. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2017.11.032.
- Brady, L. M., A. L. Germano, and S. A. Fryberg. 2017. "Leveraging Cultural Differences to Promote Educational Equality." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 18 (August): 79-83. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.08.003.
- Bransford, J. D., A. L. Brown, and R. R. Cocking, eds. 2002. *How People Learn: Brain, Mind, Experience, and School.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Browman, A. S., M. Destin, K. L. Carswell, and R. C. Svoboda. 2017. "Perceptions of Socioeconomic Mobility Influence Academic Persistence among Low Socioeconomic Status Students." *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 72 (September): 45-52. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2017.03.006.
- Darling-Hammond, L. 2010a. *The Flat World and Education: How America's Commitment to Equity Will Determine Our Future*. New York: Teachers College Press.

- Darling-Hammond, L. 2010b. *Performance Counts: Assessment Systems that Support High-Quality Learning*. Washington, DC: Council of Chief State School Officers.
- Deci, E. L., R. J. Vallerand, L. G. Pelletier, and R. M. Ryan. 1991. "Motivation and Education: The Self-Determination Perspective." *Educational Psychologist* 26, no. 3 and 4: 325-346.
- Dittmann, A. G., and N. M. Stephens. 2017. "Interventions Aimed at Closing the Social Class Achievement Gap: Changing Individuals, Structures, and Construals." *Current Opinion in Psychology* 18: 111-116. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.07.044.
- Downey, D. B., P. T. Von Hippel, and B. A. Broh. 2004. "Are Schools the Great Equalizer? Cognitive Inequality During the Summer Months and the School Year." *American Sociological Review* 69, no. 5: 613-635.
- Duckworth, A. L., C. Peterson, M. D. Matthews, and D. R. Kelly. 2007. "Grit: Perseverance and Passion for Long-Term Goals." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 92, no. 6: 1087-1101.
- Durlak, J. A., and R. P. Weissberg. 2007. *The Impact of After-School Programs That Promote Personal and Social Skills*. Chicago: The Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning.
- Farrington, C.A. 2013. *Academic Mindsets as a Critical Component of Deeper Learning*. Menlo Park: Hewlett Foundation.
- Farrington, C. A., M. Roderick, E. Allensworth, J. Nagaoka, T. S. Keyes, and D. W. Johnson. 2012. *Teaching Adolescents to Become Learners. The Role of Noncognitive Factors in Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review.* Chicago: University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research.
- Ferguson, R., S. Phillips, J. Rowley, and J. Friedlander. 2015. *The Influence of Teaching Beyond Standardized Test Scores: Engagement, Mindsets, and Agency*. Seattle: Raikes Foundation.
- Gutiérrez, K. D., and W. R. Penuel. 2014. "Relevance to Practice as a Criterion for Rigor." *Educational Researcher* 43, no. 1: 19-23. doi: 10.3102/0013189X13520289.
- Gutiérrez, R. 2013. "The Sociopolitical Turn in Mathematics Education." *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education* 44, no. 1: 37-68.

- Hake, R. R. 1998. "Interactive-Engagement Versus Traditional Methods: A Six-Thousand-Student Survey of Mechanics Test Data for Introductory Physics Courses." *American Journal of Physics* 66 no. 1: 64-74.
- Halpern, R. 2009. The Means to Grow Up: Reinventing Apprenticeship as a Developmental Support in Adolescence. New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Harter, S. 1992. "The Relationship Between Perceived Competence, Affect, and Motivational Orientation within the Classroom: Processes and Patterns of Change." In *Achievement and Motivation: A Social-Developmental Perspective*, edited by A. K. Boggiano and T. S. Pittman, 77-114. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Hattie, J. 2009. Visible Learning: A Synthesis of Over 800 Meta-Analyses Relating to Achievement. New York: Routledge.
- Haystead, M. W. 2010. RISC Vs. Non-RISC Schools: A Comparison of Student Proficiencies for Reading, Writing, and Mathematics. Englewood, Colorado: Marzano Research Laboratory.
- Heller, R., R. Wolfe, and A. Steinberg, eds. 2017. *Rethinking Readiness: Deeper Learning for College, Work, and Life.* Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.
- Hinton, C., K. W. Fischer, and C. Glennon. 2013. "Applying the Science of How We Learn." In Anytime, Anywhere: Student-Centered Learning for Schools and Teachers, edited by R. E. Wolfe, A. Steinberg, and N. Hoffman, 153-170. Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.
- Hulleman, C., J. Kosovich, K. Barron, and D. Daniel. 2017. "Making Connections: Replicating and Extending the Utility Value Intervention in the Classroom." *Journal of Educational Psychology* 109, no. 3. doi:10.1037/edu0000146.
- Immordino-Yang, M. H., and A. Damasio. 2007. "We Feel, Therefore We Learn: The Relevance of Affective and Social Neuroscience to Education." *Mind, Brain, and Education* 1, no. 1: 3-10.
- Johnston, H. 2011. Research Brief: Proficiency-Based Education. Southfield, Michigan: Education Partnerships Inc. Kizilcec, R. F., and G. L. Cohen. 2017. "Eight-Minute Self-Regulation Intervention Raises Educational Attainment at Scale in Individualist but Not Collectivist Cultures." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, no. 17: 4348-4353. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1611898114.

- Ladson-Billings, G. 2006. "From the Achievement Gap to the Education Debt: Understanding Achievement in U.S. Schools." *Educational Researcher* 35, no. 7: 3-12. doi: 10.3102/0013189X035007003.
- Lambert, N., and B. McCombs, eds. 2000. *How Students Learn*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Lupien, S. J., B.S. McEwen, M. R. Gunnar, and C. Heim. 2009. "Effects of Stress throughout the Lifespan on the Brain, Behavior, and Cognition." *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 10: 434-445.
- McClure, L., S. Yonezawa, and M. Jones. 2010. "Can School Structure Improve Teacher Student Relationships? The Relationship between Advisory Programs, Personalization, and Students' Academic Achievement." *Education Policy Analysis Archives* 18, no. 17: 1-21.
- Michael, J. 2006. "Where's the Evidence that Active Learning Works?" *Advances in Physiology Education* 30, no. 4: 159-167.
- Miller, B. 2007. The Learning Season: The Untapped Power of Summer to Advance Student Achievement. Quincy, Massachusetts: Nellie Mae Education Foundation.
- Milner, H. R. 2007. "Race, Culture, and Researcher Positionality: Working through Dangers Seen, Unseen, and Unforeseen." *Educational Researcher* 36, no. 7: 388-400.
- Nagaoka, J., C. A. Farrington, S. Ehrlich, and R. Heath. 2015. *Foundations for Young Adult Success: A Developmental Framework*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research.
- National Academy of Education. 2009. *Time for Learning*. Washington, DC: National Academy of Education.
- National Research Council. 2012. Education for Life and Work: Developing Transferable Knowledge and Skills in the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Niemiec, C. P., and R. M. Ryan. 2009. "Autonomy, Competence, and Relatedness in the Classroom: Applying Self-Determination Theory to Educational Practice." *Theory and Research in Education* 7, no. 2: 133-144.

- Pellegrino, J. W., and M. L. Hilton, eds. 2012. *Education for Life and Work: Developing Transferable Knowledge and Skills in the 21st Century*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Peterson, P. E., L. Woessmann, E. A. Hanushek, and C. X. Lastra-Anadón. 2011. *Globally Challenged: Are U.S. Students Ready to Compete?* Cambridge: Program on Education Policy and Governance, Harvard Kennedy School.
- Quay, L. 2017. Leveraging Mindset Science to Design Educational Environments that Nurture People's Natural Drive to Learn. N.p.: Mindset Scholars Network.
- Resnick, L., and C. Zurawsky. 2005. "Getting Back on Course: Fixing Standards-Based Reform and Accountability." *American Educator* 29, no. 1: 8-46.
- Romero, C. 2015a. What We Know About Belonging from Scientific Research. N.p. Mindset Scholars Network.
- Romero, C. 2015b. What We Know About Purpose & Relevance from Scientific Research.

 N.p.: Mindset Scholars Network.
- Rory, A. L., and S. H. Chris. 2016. "Motivation Interventions in Education: A Meta-Analytic Review." *Review of Educational Research* 86, no. 2: 602-640. doi: 10.3102/0034654315617832.
- Saunders, M., J. Ruiz-de-Velasco, and J. Oakes. 2017. *Learning Time: In Pursuit of Educational Equity*. Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.
- Sawyer, R. K. 2008. "Optimising Learning: Implications of Learning Sciences Research." In *Innovating to Learn, Learning to Innovate* by OECD, 45-66. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Shear, L., G. Novais, and S. Moorthy. 2010. *Innovative Teaching and Learning Research: Executive Summary*. Cambridge: SRI International.
- Steinberg, L. 2010. "A Behavioral Scientist Looks at the Science of Adolescent Brain Development." *Brain and Cognition* 72, no. 1: 160-164.
- Stern, D., and R. Stearns. 2008. Evidence and Challenges: Will Multiple Pathways Improve Students' Outcomes? In *Beyond Tracking: Multiple Pathways to College, Career, and Civic Participation*, edited by J. Oakes and M. Saunders, 37-54. Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.

- Sturgis, C., and S. Patrick. 2010. When Success is the Only Option: Designing Competency-Based Pathways for Next Generation Learning. Vienna, Virginia: International Association for K-12 Online Learning.
- Tobias, S., and H. Everson. 2009. "The Importance of Knowing What You Know: A Knowledge Monitoring Framework for Studying Metacognition in Education." In *Handbook of Metacognition in Education*, edited by D. Hacker, J. Dunlosky, and A. Graesser. New York: Routledge.
- Toshalis, E., and M. J. Nakkula. 2013. "Prioritizing Motivation and Engagement." In *Anytime, Anywhere: Student-Centered Learning for Teachers and Students*, edited by R. E. Wolfe, A. Steinberg, and N. Hoffman, 171 202. Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.
- Warren, M., R., J. Calderón, A. L. Kupscznk, G. Squires, and C. Su. 2018. "Is Collaborative, Community-Engaged Scholarship More Rigorous than Traditional Scholarship? On Advocacy, Bias, and Social Science Research." *Urban Education* (March). doi: 10.1177/0042085918763511.
- Wolfe, R. E., A. Steinberg, and N. Hoffman, eds. 2013. *Anytime Anywhere: Student-Centered Learning for Schools and Teachers*. Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.
- Yeager, D., et al. 2016. "Using Design Thinking to Improve Psychological Interventions: The Case of the Growth Mindset During the Transition to High School." *Journal of Educational Psychology* 108, no. 3: 374-391. doi: 10.1037/edu0000098.
- Yonezawa, S., M. Jones, and F. Joselowsky. 2009. Youth Engagement in High Schools: Developing a Multidimensional, Critical Approach to Improving Engagement for All Students. New York: Academy for Educational Development and UCSD-CREATE.
- Zeiser, K., J. Taylor, J. Rickles, M. Garet, and M. Segeritz. 2014. *Evidence of Deeper Learning Outcomes. Report #3: Findings from the Study of Deeper Learning: Opportunities and Outcomes.* Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research.